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         The funeral took place in 2016, two months before the British vote on whether to leave or stay in the European Union. In his 100th year my Uncle Jack had died in his bed at Castle Leslie, the mid-Ulster family home lying just in the Republic, with fellow Knights of Malta coming to make their farewells, along with a broad Ascendancy remnant representation of those who had made it to the 21st century. The ceremony over, the coffin made its way down the aisle and out into the April sunshine, where a horse-drawn hearse waited. There a surge of locals moved forward to shake hands and express condolences during the short pause while the undertakers went about their work of loading.

         A man appeared among the throng who I’d not seen in years and did not recall ever having actually conversed with. He took my hand, said something polite about my late uncle and then, I guess skilfully, judging how much time he had before the procession moved off, launched straight into asking if I’d consider renting an ‘auld shed at the foot of the field with two gates’. I asked why he was interested in a corner of my old farmyard and he replied, nodding his head in the direction of the Northern Ireland border about a mile away, ‘Well, if this Brexit thing was to come off we’d all be back in business.’ The horses’ hooves began to clatter, announcing the imminent departure of the cortège to Jack’s final resting place, and I terminated the conversation with a smile, accompanied by a fairly strong jab to the man’s rib-cage so my words, ‘This time I’m in the frame, OK?’ would not be taken light-heartedly.

         The rest of the day was normal in that after the committal there was a reception for all on the big house lawn. However, the memory of the incident outside the church with the smuggler still lingered and so, in the evening, I took the time to go down to the old farmyard alone and quietly wander up from the rusting barns to ‘the field with two gates’. There, in the fading light and standing in Co. Monaghan, I had a view of Caledon House across the border in Co. Tyrone and the trees surrounding Tynan Abbey in Co. Armagh, both not more than two miles distant as the crow flies but 8across an invisible social gulf wider than America’s Grand Canyon. The disused railway running parallel to the bed of the derelict Ulster canal I’d first encountered aged seven, the restoration of which was still a burning passion, was also within sight, but the significant fact trumping all was the hedge at the bottom of the field where it marked the juridical boundary between the Republic of Ireland and Northern Ireland. In the middle of it beside a rusty well there was a gate. On the other side of the gate lay a track that led nowhere other than into a neighbour’s farm – nothing special about this, other than that he was a cattle dealer by trade and beneath the track’s coating of mud lay steel girders capable of supporting laden lorries. We both used the well as a reserve for watering stock in dry weather.

         As I leaned on the gatepost, memories came back of wild moonlit nights herding mature bullocks weighing almost a ton each from the yard to the gate up the hill. They would be let out into the big, lush pasture glistening with dew. Usually it was after a long ride in a cattle truck and so they’d take off in an immediate mad gallop to circuit the field. We’d call it the ‘lap of honour’ as they raced round the perimeter encompassing the 36 acres. The funny thing was that the gate at the far side would be open and there would not be a beast in the field in the morning. But that was all back in the 1970s, now so very long ago. From where I was standing a couple of chaps from a nearby village had once opened up with a 12.7 mm machine-gun aimed at Caledon House, with some bullets finding their target and knocking cow-pats of plaster off the walls. A white bungalow was also just visible through trees where the occupant, an Ulster Volunteer Force member, had received an untimely doorstep execution by an opposing paramilitary force that hadn’t had far to reach from the Republic. Behind it tall trees marking the site of yet another terrible happening stood against the darkening eastern sky like tombstone sentinels.

         I began to think back to other days in that same field. There was a hollow in its centre which provided a perfect killing ground when deerstalking, and along a bit from where I was standing a little bank was just right for lying on to take a shot. Early one morning I’d watched a fallow buck suitable for culling casually make its way into the field 9through a hedge that actually defined the border with the North and wander towards the safe target area. When the rifle’s crosshairs could neatly bracket the animal’s heart zone I had eased off the safety catch and prepared to fire once it stood still. At that moment two army helicopters had risen in the air from the police station a mile to my right and, like giant overladen bumblebees, had begun their clattering journey towards the next stop at Caledon. Knowing the route they would take, which lay along the bottom of the field before me, I had wondered if by chance one of my Army Air Corps friends from earlier times might be in a pilot’s seat. Safety pushed to ‘on’, the rifle bolt had been slid back, bullet ejected and scope adjusted for long-range spotting – it was not detachable. Once the lead helicopter was in the crosshairs magnification had been increased until heads were clearly visible. For a second or two memories of chums from another world and time had come to mind. (One claimed to hold the altitude record for a helicopter over Northern Ireland and another had been awarded an MC for extracting troops under fire and somehow managing to fly them to safety with his helicopter’s tail rotor more or less shot off. I’d last seen them both years before when serving in the Household Cavalry at the eastern end of the Mediterranean.) Then the craft had banked behind some trees and disappeared. I reloaded the rifle, only to discover the buck too was gone. It had been a Sunday. Drizzle began to fall and it was time for breakfast. That evening the 6 pm news had announced that HRH Prince Charles had paid a visit by air to the RUC at Middletown and Caledon police stations.

         Here I was, decades later, still looking at that wonderfully rural scene but threaded through and through with extraordinary historical linkages. Mother, father, grandfather were all part of the colourful agrarian tapestry in front of me. The view was deceptive, though, as on either side of it lay two entirely separate legal, educational, financial and taxation systems, police forces, postal and health services, with even water and electricity supplies differing in pressure and voltage. The calibration of the humble kitchen pipe was based on the imperial standard and the inch in the Republic, while in the North measurement was calibrated in millimetres. All this invisible difference lay silently hanging in the air as 10rooks cawed nearby in some tall ash trees, having flown the same divide over from Caledon to roost in the old oak wood behind.

         It was time to return to the big house and the remainder of the day’s event, but as I turned away more and more memories began to dance about over the chapter of accidents that had led to my becoming and then surviving as cattle farmer here in the centre of Mid-Ulster’s bandit country, hotfoot from serving as an officer in the British Army. Images flitted by, landing briefly but then taking off again, one memory quickly replaced by fragments of another – the image of civil rights leader Bernadette Devlin’s angry face taken from a Syrian newspaper decorating my bedroom wall in Damascus in 1972; the despair in a young blood-spattered woman’s eyes in Cambodia as she cradled a child twitching in its last spasms of life still haunted me; being kissed expansively by an ex-Soviet minister who had once been Kazakhstan’s champion pugilist; explaining the roots of Winston Churchill’s First Nation American ancestry to the wartime Japanese Emperor Hirohito’s younger brother – all drifted in and out of focus.

         As I reached the farmyard the reverie should have come to an end, only it didn’t. What if a vote in favour of Brexit did actually come to pass – what would happen then? The prospect seemed as likely as shaking hands with the man on the moon – the real question was why the old smuggler had emerged from decades of obscurity with an assumption that I was worth approaching so directly about ‘the yard’. For 40 years I’d been embedded in the local community as what might be described as a co-operative landowner with a strategically important border property. Though the family could be branded as classically Anglo-Irish, a relationship with the grass-roots peasantry was historic and close, reaching back centuries to ‘the Fighting Bishop’. Bishop John Leslie had opposed Cromwell’s forces for the entire period of the Commonwealth’s existence and then purchased Glaslough in 1662 with the compensation handed to him by the King for his consistent Royalist support. He wasn’t a ‘Planter’, guilty of dislodging an unwilling indigenous landowner, and this had become a key factor centuries later at the rise of Irish Nationalism.

         My American grandmother had taken up residence in the big house in 1921 as the Irish war for independence from Britain raged, only to be 11followed by the Civil War which erupted over whether the emerging state should remain a member of the British Commonwealth or not. Her husband, Shane, my grandfather, later Sir Shane Leslie, had rejected his Protestant heritage to become a dedicated Nationalist campaigner, working closely with Eamonn de Valera and Michael Collins in the years from ‘The Rising’ in 1916 up to the Treaty and independence. His heart was broken by the final outcome and partition, but the upside was a legacy of the family being thoroughly rooted in the formative years of the new ‘Free State’. For him the now defunct Ulster canal was a strong physical link with the past, and twice he’d walked me as a small boy along a remnant of its towpath while describing the waterborne society that had once existed.

         But the smuggler’s confidence in approaching me so bluntly wasn’t based on that either – rather more to do with the way he understood me. Like schooling a young horse, the man had detected a line of communication not requiring words, just a sort of sense of what needed to be imparted using eyesight alone. Over the years good fortune had played a part in survival, in that twice I’d suddenly been bearded by strangers in the village pub with the question ‘Where were you on Bloody Sunday?’ Each set-up had come totally without warning, conducted by interrogators, not people I knew. Pints had flowed beforehand to disarm, and hesitation would have been fatal. It was obvious my British ex-serviceman’s reaction to the question concerning the Derry massacre in 1972 was being studied as closely as the answer. Had I been implicated in military activities of any kind in Northern Ireland at any time it would have been game over, as after a few pints it is difficult to be other than that which you are. Hesitation implying guilt of some sort was being looked for, but luckily sheer fate had given me an indisputable ace card to play and each time it had worked.

         Six years spent serving in the British Army in the 1970s had not exactly prepared the way for taking on a rundown farm on the Ulster border, but I’d survived. The earlier years at an English public school and while fooling around London on the fringes of the deb scene had been harder – an effort had to be made to fit in but a subconscious off-key echo always remained. In conversation with Jim the smuggler no such tension existed. What lay behind it all? 12
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         Where I grew up probably had relevance, as my earliest years were largely spent playing about along the shore of Galway Bay in the west of Ireland. Stormy seas smashing in windows, wild seals, the smell of rotting weed and the shrieks of gulls formed the backbone of childhood memories. Hotfoot on this came religious worries, fear the world would end in 1964 and, almost as bad, Co. Kerry might beat Galway and win the annual All-Ireland Gaelic football match. The first person’s name to register outside my immediate family was that of Archbishop the Rev. Dr McQuaid. I didn’t understand who or what he was but every daily news bulletin broadcast in English on the radio after the Irish version would start with a summary of his latest decrees. I only took notice because they sometimes made the girls who minded me weep – all were reduced to tears when the Archbishop deemed nylon stockings sinful; girls were banned from being allowed to accept lifts on bicycles from boys – even to Mass – and should only socialise with them at priest-supervised parish dances etc. The Archbishop appeared to be the nation’s ruler, the ultimate authority to be feared as a god-like figure.

         The single beacon of joy and excitement was the voice of Michael O’Hare, the radio commentator whose amazingly fast delivery held everyone in thrall on a Sunday when inter-county All-Ireland Hurling and Gaelic football matches took place. His clarity of voice and ability to create an atmosphere of continuous unfolding drama were totally gripping, whatever the occasion. (I was in the viewing box at the Canal Turn at Aintree when Foinavon won the Grand National in 1967 and O’Hare’s eye-witness commentary of the great pile-up made history.)

         At the end of the Second World War my mother, an authoress known as Anita Leslie, had fallen in love with and taken on the task of restoring a ruined castle, a 12th-century tower on the Atlantic seashore by a village called Oranmore in the west of Ireland. Two wartime friends arrived to 14help and work began. Later in life one, Peter, a retired army colonel, was to become a close friend; the other, Bill, a retired submarine commander, married my mother in 1949 and I was born later the same year. Materials in Ireland were scarce and much had to be fashioned by hand from locally sourced wood and stone but by 1948 the place was vaguely habitable.

         A trans-Atlantic single-handed yachting race venue with a big prize had come up for Bill at the time my mother’s pregnancy was due to run its course, so it fell to Peter to look after her when the moment came. Another yacht race came up, Bill won it, sold the boat well and, with the proceeds, bought a small farm near the castle. A thatched cottage was built on-site so he could set out to fulfil a burning ambition to be an organic farmer and repair his health, which had been partially wrecked by 15 years in submarines. The peace and quiet of ‘the Cottage’ enabled my mother to step back into her career as a writer, while I remained in the castle minded by Peter and various visiting relatives.

         As an infant my cot was in the ‘double-arrow-slit’ cell located up in the 12th-century part of the tower and one evening a visiting godmother, Diana Daly, proved to be just that by asking for me to be produced for inspection. Peter collected me from my wicker basket and carried me down to the ‘Great Hall’. When he returned with me 30 minutes later it was to find the basket on the floor squashed flat by what turned out to be a wheelbarrow-load of plaster that had fallen from the ceiling, indicating a truly close shave with death.

         Time went by and my sister Leonie arrived, introducing an increased demand on the logistical front. A job came up for Peter in the Bahamas in 1953 and he left. Even at my age of only four his departure inflicted an acute sense of loss on me and my emotions tightened to form an inner survival core. Time passed and the castle’s spartan conditions were found to be not ideal for raising small children, so we moved to Bill’s cottage with two orphaned sisters from the village recruited as minders. We would be lulled to sleep at night by the sound of Atlantic gales blowing from the ocean beating rain against the windowpanes or, if it was a still night, the Banshee-like screams of vixens seeking mates in a nearby wood as the mournful light of a distant lighthouse blinked weakly against closed blinds.15

         Oranmore Castle was let and, aged five, my education began with primary classes at the local convent. Boys and girls separating at six, the next stage was the all-male village national school under Mr O’Sullivan, known locally as ‘the Master’, who had taken up the teaching post in 1924. He was a devout Catholic and an ardent Nationalist, with a fixation that the British prime minister Bonar Law (P.M. 1922–23) was largely responsible for all Ireland’s woes. He had approximately 60 boys aged 6 to 14 under his charge in one room, about half of whom walked to school barefoot. Religion and a particular view of Irish history dominated everything. His bête  noire  was the partitioning of the island in 1924, seconded by the ruthlessness of Oliver Cromwell in the 17th century. Most of the time was spent lining up to be whacked for the wrong answer to some question.

         The parish priest visited occasionally to grill all on the catechism. He too would thrash with a hazel stick of his own. In the yard welts were compared and I felt strongly that mine were usually deeper and redder. Bill was the only Protestant in the locality, so when ‘the Master’ let forth tirades against the Church of Ireland, accusing it of being a remnant left over from the dark and terrible times the country had suffered under British rule, life in the playground afterwards could become awkward in the extreme. His utterances – ‘When the Devil stalked the land he took shelter behind the doors of its chapels’ or ‘Always run past a Protestant church or he might come out and grab you or trip you up with his tail’ – took a bit of living down, but on one occasion when he said all Protestants had tails ‘but kept them down their trousers so you might not see them’ something snapped. When a hard teasing followed that day I used fists to fight my corner – there was no alternative – and found it worked. Fortunately I was right-handed, but those not so lucky had a hard time of it in class. Somehow, being ‘kithoag’ was deemed sinful, and anyone caught attempting to write with his left hand had it soundly walloped.

         There was one issue the Master was not able to resolve in all the years I attended his school. Some of the boys never ever spoke to others, even during games. There was an invisible but identifiable social division marked by the occasional de-bagging in the bushes behind the playground. The problem harked back to the Irish Civil War of the 161920s. The school’s catchment area straddled the Galway-Dublin main road, which had previously been a boundary line between the different areas of support in the years when Michael Collins and De Valera were at loggerheads over the issue of the emerging nation remaining within the Commonwealth. All I really knew was that it was not wise to utter the words ‘Sinn Féin’ too loudly, even as a boyish prank. A sense of unfinished business of some sort lingered in the air, silent but distinct.

         Once a year after Easter someone from the Christian Brothers would come to the school to question the ‘leavers’, the top class made up of 14-year-olds who were in their last year of state education but mostly still struggling to read. Our rural establishment was deemed too low-life for Jesuit talent-spotters searching for potential priesthood recruits. The brighter boys were picked out for further education by the ‘priest recruiters’, the rest being allowed to return to their family farms. Amazing speech impediments, cross-eyes, peculiar breathing and twitching handicaps would appear in the run-up to the selection process, much to the amusement of all us lesser mortals.

         Every six months an old black steamer too large for the Galway dock anchored in the bay for a day to collect passengers for the crossing to Boston. In the weeks running up to its arrival Canon Kenny’s sermons at Mass turned to the evils and temptations of foreign life and the vital necessity of remaining close to one’s parish priest wherever one ended up, in order to keep going to confession. It was a time of excitement and sadness in the weeks leading up to departure for those losing a family member. In the evening or night the ship sailed, leaving a melancholy trail of smoke to tint the sky for a day or two.

         In 1958, in a holiday period shortly after the warning on the evils of Protestantism, my parents took me to London and an excursion to Chartwell for lunch, an invitation arising through our family connection. Aged nine, I found the going hard, as I was the only child at the table. Lady Churchill was in bed with a case of shingles, so there was no kind old lady to spot my frustration when my mother became preoccupied ‘talking war’ with the other grown-ups. Knowing no better, I began to seek opportunities to join in the conversations which, to me, sometimes 17appeared a little silly. When a reference to a ‘cat’s pyjamas’ formed the reply to the oldest man’s question, ‘How is your book going, Monty?’ I’d instantly demanded to know the cat’s location, which didn’t go down well. Another excited interruption was made when ‘Rebecca’, the name of one of my schoolfriend’s sisters, was mentioned. More dark looks and a long wagging finger in my face was waved by the book’s writer. When Bill began to talk about an ‘amorous prawn’ I asked what ‘amorous’ meant and dived into telling the finger-wagger I knew how to find lots of prawns in rock pools back at home. At the end of lunch the old man made his way slowly to an electric lift and the rest of the party headed for some stairs leading to the floor below and the drawing room. The temptation to ride in a lift cage was too much for me and as the mesh doors were being drawn shut I slipped in, spotting that there was just room for the two of us. As it began to descend slowly, looking down through his half-moon glasses the old man asked, ‘Well, how do you find Monty?’ Pondering for a moment on why I felt irritated by the finger-wagger and deducing what I thought the problem might be, I replied, ‘Does he have a tail he keeps down his trousers?’ The old man began to laugh and a tear ran down one cheek. He was still laughing when the lift stopped and my mother, with an unfamiliar expression on her face, reached in and whisked me out of it.

         Years later Bill explained that the reason for the invite to lunch with Winston and Montgomery was twofold. He had been involved in squeezing German supply lines to North Africa with submarines based at Malta, and had been amazed at the quality of intelligence being supplied to brief patrol commanders, enabling repeated deep incisive blows to be made against Rommel’s supply lines. Montgomery wanted to tie up some loose ends about how the 10th Submarine Flotilla had managed to keep going so effectively during the prolonged period of siege. My mother had worked in an intelligence capacity for Montgomery’s boss, General Alexander, the younger brother of her immediate Irish neighbour, the Earl of Caledon, who lived literally next door in Ireland and had known her all her life. As an ambulance driver and organiser of hospital train movements, her direct contact with fighting men fresh from fields of battle enabled vital raw intelligence to be gleaned on morale, knowledge 18of enemy weaponry, strengths and weaknesses. Alexander had kept her close to avoid staff officers editing information during the North African and Italian campaigns, using their neighbourly relationship as an excuse, but Winston had not understood the subtlety of the connection. Through her the exposure of a sensitive security leak known as ‘the Amorous Prawn’ had been turned to the Allied advantage in a brilliantly executed ruse to lead the German armoured troops badly astray just before El Alamein.

         The next year there was a family expedition to the Bahamas as guests of Peter’s. In 1953 an old friend of his from wartime Palestine, the Earl of Ranfurly, had been appointed Governor. ‘Dan’ wanted someone he could trust to get to the bottom of an unsolved murder dating back to 1943, when the Duke of Windsor was Governor, and he had recruited Peter in 1954. Happy childhood memories of him had faded slightly but inexplicable pangs of emotion caused by his departure still flickered and made the thought of the coming island holiday thrilling beyond belief.

         On reaching the semi-developed island of Andros, where Peter was managing a pineapple-growing enterprise, Leonie and I wasted no time in making local friends and going native. One great sport was hunting land crabs, which lurked everywhere, and one evening while stalking a particularly large one I found myself under a window through which the grown-ups could be heard conversing in hushed tones. They were discussing a murder and who might have done it. Peter was heard saying that he ‘had covered the ground for Dan and all lay at the Duke’s door’, with something about ‘Royal Prerogative’ being a brick wall. My mother asked for an explanation as to ‘why all the feathers?’ It seemed an odd sort of conversation and it was better to focus on hunting the crab, which eventually made a bolt for freedom.

         I knew the man we usually stayed with, after crossing from Ireland to Liverpool on the overnight ferry, was a Duke, but his being on Andros playing about with feathers didn’t make much sense. It transpired that Peter had obeyed Governor Ranfurly’s instructions to discreetly get close to Harold Christie, the main suspect, who had benefited from the murder of Sir Harry Oakes, with the aim of seeing if there was anything more to be learned so that the case could be closed. Peter had ended up becoming 19employed by Christie for some years but nothing new relating to the murder case came to light. On Christie’s death Peter was appointed his estate executor and was himself left sufficient funds to be able to retire back to Ireland and buy a house outside Oranmore near the castle.

         On our return from the Bahamas it was back to the village school and a new pony, Quicksilver. Actually, he was a very old pony, but great at climbing walls rather than jumping them, which made me popular leading others over large obstacles out hunting – the only form of county social life that existed.

         My Uncle Jack had inherited the Castle Leslie Estate at Glaslough in Co. Monaghan in 1945, but his health never recovered from five years of incarceration as a prisoner of war, and by 1954 he was exhausted. That year the family home was made over to my mother and so, for me at the age of five, it became the place where I thought my future lay. Soon after handover a plea for help in restoring the Glaslough village Catholic church roof of St Mary’s had materialised and one fund-raising answer was to have the pleasure grounds surrounding the house thrown open for fêtes in the summer. Fancy-dress parades and dancing competitions were held, but the highlight was wonderful ongoing battles between teams of dwarfs decked out in blue and green shirts who set about each other with sticks. Any who bolted from the fracas were just caught and thrown back into the ring, to great cheers from the crowd.

         This annual fiesta to help the church finances was supplemented dramatically in 1962 when a sudden embargo on the export of eels from Northern Ireland came into force. The family solicitor in the town came to my mother, stating that an approach had been made by a respected local cattle trader, who wished to rent the old steam-engine water-tank in the farmyard. Some of Michael McNally’s associates were declared as ‘colourful’, but he felt sure the income would be forthcoming and could go towards the church repairs. The end client appeared to be a Mr Kray of east London, who was a big operator in the jellied eel market, and the embargo had caused an acute spike in the trade. Many of the locals were skilled catchers and had gone to work in the county’s rivers and streams, but there was a shortage of secure storage prior to transit to the UK. The 20old tank fitted the need perfectly as it still held water, and I was to benefit greatly years later from the goodwill earned at the time.

         During my mother’s nine-year reign as chatelaine of the Glaslough estate, Bill supported her in the struggle to make sense of what was basically a financial basket-case. He just about succeeded – by 1963 the farm was out of debt, with the land fenced and stocked with three herds of pedigree Black Angus cattle.

         But, for me, Glaslough was for the Easter and summer holidays. I remained at Oranmore National School during term time and grew up largely with friends who lived nearby in a small cottage on the seashore. We would always walk back to their house after class, playing about as we went. Around 6 or 7 pm I’d be picked up and taken home for food and bed. On Sundays us boys would sometimes find a way of getting to the Town Hall cinema in Galway after Mass if there wasn’t a match on or if the weather was bad. We would bring an air pistol with us for the Westerns so as to be able to join in when there were shoot-outs. At Bill’s funeral in 2012 one whispered he ‘still had the gun’.

         A particular incident occurred in those early years which impacted heavily on my trust of adults and my sense of self-preservation. Soon after I was taken to a performance of Peter  Pan  a wartime submariner friend of Bill’s came to stay. He’d lost a hand and his arm was fitted with a hook that split to hold instruments like knives. I might have been too young for the pantomime as I hadn’t enjoyed it, and when this rather gruff man who I was convinced was Captain Hook appeared in the house one evening, I was quite terrified. It seemed my parents were totally unaware of his real identity and had been deceived by his false charm. To me survival depended on having an escape route ready when he appeared in the night – I was convinced he was going to come in through the window. The bedroom door-frame was doctored with carpet tacks until the lock didn’t close properly and could be opened with just a pull. Sister Leonie was oblivious to the crisis, but my sense of fear knew no bounds – there was nobody to turn to for help. Survival itself depended on my own ability to escape any danger that materialised, and the one comfort was having a fast exit to fall back on when the moment came. A sense of the need for 21self-reliance was born that night that bored its way right down into my psyche, never to depart.

         As I grew older, friends were made in Glaslough and I learned to drive a senior cousin’s go-cart up to the village, where a few circuits round the houses were possible. Becoming the proud owner of a full-sized bicycle led to expeditions over the border for penny bangers, which would then be tied in bunches and chucked fizzing through the swing doors of the local public house. It seemed innocent fun at the time. The sport advanced in later years to borrowing cars that had been parked outside the castle by guests coming to stay for the night. A boy not much older than me worked in the house lighting fires, washing dishes and carrying bags to bedrooms. This duty meant we knew which cars would not be needed for the evening and therefore free. Automobile door and ignition locks were simple mechanisms to unpick if keys were not to hand. There were two dance halls at a distance of about five miles and it was the time of winklepicker shoes, Brylcreem, sticking-out dresses and 11-or 12-piece show bands belting out rock and roll. Car sorted, we’d drive up to the village to load as many as could fit in before heading either across the border to Middletown or up winding roads to Carrickroe, buried in the foothills of Slieve Beagh. No alcohol, dusty naked lightbulbs hung from ceilings, but there was fantastic live music to lift the soul. The occasional police checkpoint with guns and torches was encountered but we never got into trouble and, as the cars were always left exactly where they had been, we were never found out. Early social life was just that, playing about with village boys in Oranmore and Glaslough. The trappings of Anglo-Ireland didn’t land on my shoulders as my mother and Bill were totally buried in their own lives of writing, fox-hunting and farming. As long as Leonie and I appeared happy, we were pretty well left to do what we wished.

         During the early autumn months my mother would painstakingly drag me out of bed at 4 am to go cubbing, which meant watching young hounds being taught how to hunt by their peers. The effort was worth it as the natural beauty of a receding mist over turloughs (lakes) and the sight of early sunlight on bushes white with hoarfrost never failed 22to impress. These early morning escapades had begun when, aged seven, I was put on an elderly pony called Micky, harnessed with leading reins held by my mother, who ran along on foot. All went well until a hunting meet at Athenry, when she fell into conversation with a distinguished-looking gentleman wearing a fedora hat and sporting a neat moustache. Somehow, the leading reins became unclipped, setting Micky free to wander off through the mêlée of horses and chattering grown-ups. A state of absolute terror and panic only subsided when he began to respond to the reins in my hands and halt when requested. Words of encouragement from surrounding adults then spurred me on to make him move around through the mass of horseflesh gathered in the town square, to seek out some friends to whom I now wished to show off. Finally, returning to my mother, who appeared not to have noticed my absence, I was introduced to the wearer of the fedora hat. He meant nothing to me at the time, but years later we were destined to meet again, under very different circumstances.

         In the same year, 1956, a lady immaculately turned out, riding side­saddle with top hat and veil, appeared on the hunting scene. Lady Christabel Ampthill seemed to be a friend of my mother’s and in the following spring when the hunting season was over she called at the house, driving a Dormobile caravan, to ask me to go camping for the weekend. We drove off into the wilds of Co. Clare to look for stumps of ruined castles. She wanted to buy one but could not understand a word of the local dialect, so had me along as interpreter. The far west of Ireland was a fairly undeveloped area in those days, with unmetalled roads, little signage other than that erected by the British Automobile Association, and few shops. I don’t remember that she had a map and the main guiding line seemed to be to keep as close as possible to the coastline. As spring turned into summer the weekend jaunts penetrated further and further into the lost lands of briars and undergrowth that comprised most of Co. Clare. When the sea warmed up she’d go swimming wearing just two head-scarves, one round her waist and the other round her chest. The beaches or ‘strands’ were usually secluded, gentle, gravel inclines requiring quite a wade out to deep water while I remained sitting on the tideline armed with a towel. I guess it was an attempt at modesty but the 23wet scarves only exaggerated the outline of her figure on emerging from the water. When I was rubbing her back, four long thin white scars lying across her lower shoulder-blades were just visible, one slightly crossing the others. At about that time John Huston, the film director, bought St Clerans, a magnificent Georgian pile in Co. Galway, and while in a cupboard playing sardines during a children’s party this observation was mentioned to his daughter, Anjelica. She replied immediately, ‘Oh, that’s babies.’ As I accepted her words at face value, the matter would have been forgotten had it not been for the grown-ups occasionally being overheard referring to a ‘virgin birth’ and a ‘sponge baby’ when Christabel’s hunting antics were the topic of conversation. This gave me something to think about, as the words did not lie well with the religious instruction and catechism being hammered home by a nun in preparation for my first Holy Communion. (The subject faded in significance for some years, but when the argument over the inheritance of Lord Ampthill’s title and legitimacy erupted in the press in the 1970s with the gory details of Christabel’s 1923 battle in the House of Lords on the grounds of falling pregnant due to the shared use of a bath sponge, various memories of our seashore exploits came flooding back.)

         At the village national school ‘The Master’ tended to focus mainly on the boys in their leaving year when it came to reading skills. The rest of us just fooled our way along, accepting hazel-stick wallops rather than making efforts to progress academically. Rubbing hands on rocks thickened skin and reduced pain levels markedly. For a time my mother experimented with PNEU home-schooling books as it was obvious at what Anglo-Irish social gatherings there were that I was falling behind my age group. The trouble was I had tasted the delights of unrestricted freedom to play on the seashore and forests, so resisted efforts to focus on schoolwork indoors. The distracting sound of gulls or rooks was impossible to ignore as it indicated the state of the tide or time of day to fish.

         In the summer of 1958, in a serious effort to correct my lack of reading ability, my mother took me to the Aran Islands on the Dun Aengus‚ an ancient steamboat that had been plying the harbours of Galway Bay and the outer islands off the west coast for the previous 50 years, delivering 24turf and collecting cattle. I spent the six-hour journey to Kilronan on Inishmore in the engine room, totally mesmerised by the silently whirling crankshaft and watching a huge piston fly up and down with just a suck and a hiss as power was transmitted to the propeller. The tide state was wrong when we arrived at Kilronan pier, so some cattle to be collected were driven into the sea, netted and then deposited on to the deck by a lifting derrick. Mother had rented a cottage for a week and hoped to be able to have me focus without distraction on some reading books she had brought along. On finding that our elderly host, who lived in a cottage right beside us, was an illiterate boat-builder her plan fell apart, with wonderful days spent fishing, learning how to tar canvas and exploring the rock pools. Just two words were learnt on the entire trip, ‘Shut’ and ‘Open’, the printed instructions painted clearly in red with arrows on important steam valves in the Dun Aengus’s engine room.

         On returning from the Aran Islands and in answer to a request for a boat of some sort we went to see a neighbour who lived a few miles along the shoreline. Meeting Wyndham Waithman was a major development: his patient way of instructing on the principles of mechanical engineering and much else was totally captivating, with the willingly absorbed knowledge proving invaluable in years to come. There might have been over half a century between us but a friendship formed that was to last until his death decades later. In the beginning he just took me out in his little sailing boat for practical lessons on the basics of sensing wind direction, tidal flow influences and ways of controlling a vessel under sail through a moving body of water.

         Wyndham told me he had left Eton in 1901 after some very unhappy years and his first job on returning home had been as an assistant fireman on the engine pulling the train on a daily return trip from Galway to Clifton, an isolated seaside town lying 50 miles away on the far side of Connemara. Later employment had taken him to Serbia in a military engineering capacity, which was where he was when the Great War broke out and he had witnessed the horrible massacres that had drawn Russia in. At the end of hostilities he had come home to find Ireland in a state of social turmoil and, to escape, had gone for a long sailing trip 25round the Mediterranean in a Galway hooker called the Lark‚ taking with him a local lad called Paddy Browne. Calling in at Genoa they had visited a scrapyard, stumbling across a cast-iron mountain of obsolete marble-cutting saws. He had bought three, which were shipped home to Galway as there was a defunct marble quarry on the family estate. He’d been advised of enquiries being made by a billiard-table manufacturer for unpolished but accurately cut limestone slabs and this looked like a way of re-activating the enterprise. Then a massive order materialised for black and cream-white marble, exactly what he was cutting. It was required for Stormont Castle, the new building being erected outside Belfast to house the Parliament destined to rule the part of Ireland that had just been partitioned off. He joked about the fact that cut slabs were carted down to Duggan’s Quay in Oranmore Bay, within sight of home, shipped round the headland to Galway docks and then, as part of the contract, re-labelled as marble being imported from Italy.

         Wyndham had once built a 14-ft boat called the Gull  which had fallen into disrepair through lack of use, but in answer to my plea it was worked on over a winter and made seaworthy. By the age of ten I was sailing alone all around the inner parts of Galway Bay in pursuit of mackerel. If the wind dropped it was always possible to row either home or to a friendly pier. Sometimes Paddy Browne would come, as he was an enthusiastic fisherman with an uncanny sense for where the shoals might be running. One day, in response to my recounting of experiences in the Dun Aengus’s engine room, he told me what the steamer had secretly been doing during the Second World War and what ‘the Captain’ (Wyndham) had been up to during ‘the Emergency years’. At the outbreak of the war a trainload of coal ‘the likes of which had never been seen in Ireland’ had arrived at Galway and been moved to the docks for onward shipment ‘somewhere’. The Dun Aengus’s boiler was never cold, as it was continually steaming out to sea laden to its waterline with the Admiralty-grade Welsh coal. Then ‘Dev’s men’ arrived and no more of it came down from the North. Drawing my attention to the row of rotting wooden hulks lying along the shore by his house at the entrance to Lough Atalia, close by the city’s docks, he explained how the canoe-sterned ghosts had been sea-going 26trawlers in their day and had spent most of the Second World War quietly acting as weather ships stationed in a circle reaching far out into the Atlantic. The Dun Aengus  had been used to ferry supplies of fuel, food, water and replacement crews – all in secret. ‘The Captain’ ran it all, the training, collecting of information, getting it to Black Sod Point weather­-station up at Belmullet in Sligo. The trawlers didn’t have great radio range and sometimes had to relay barometer readings to each other. But the information ended up with the Americans, reassuring them that there was enough good weather coming for their planned crossing to France to go ahead in June 1944.

         It had taken a lad on a motorbike to cross the border with documents to back up many phone calls from England before Eisenhower and his team believed the reports were sound, as it was slightly difficult to explain where the depth of detail relating to conditions covering a wide arc of ocean originated – the trawlermen who had risked their lives doing it, with two boats foundering in the terrible storm that came in on the heels of the good weather. The old boats were fun to play on, with dark cavernous holds and small pillbox wheelhouses, but there was also a slightly melancholy atmosphere about them which seemed to confirm his story of their past adventures. The dark side was the price Wyndham paid – he lost his family home. When the facts associated with the secret supply of meteorological information benefiting the Allies came to light, Merlin Park had been requisitioned, demolished and a TB hospital built on the site, with not a stone left to mark the existence of the old Georgian mansion.

         Fox-hunting was the sole interest of all adults in Co. Galway. Horses, hunting coverts, visiting cads and bounders on hirelings, horse-dealers and good meets with potential for long chases of five miles or more were the mainstay of conversations through most meals and social gatherings. Some of the county’s old ‘Big Houses’ were just ivy-covered, partially collapsed ruins with crumbling boundary walls carving up the landscape. Occasionally the last remnants of an Anglo-Irish family dynasty that was still clinging on in a converted apple house or stable block followed the hunt on bicycles if a horse wasn’t affordable. When the hounds ‘found’ and a fox bolted away across a sea of grey stone obstacles, the knowledge 27of a coming mad gallop never failed to exhilarate. The first few seconds were the most exciting as one had to negotiate swirling and careering horses all aiming for the same jumps while out of control. The thrill of the chase was escaping the shambles of the start and making it to open country with a bunch of chums. It could be into the teeth of a gale or driving rain, but the fun was always there as one raced for gaps or gave a friend a lead while at full gallop. The hunted fox usually had an uncanny sense of the nearest high double-stone wall and would aim for a small hole in it, cross, run along the foot for a mile or so and then double back. The little russet figure, who I secretly always hoped would get away, could occasionally be spotted fleetingly a few fields ahead of the hounds and, if there was a pause or check in the chase, old hunting hands would throw out suggestions as to where he might be heading. The cry ‘He’s gone for Knock Doe’, ‘Dunsandle’, ‘Castle Ellen’ or ‘Derry Donnell’ would be the trigger words for slightly easier routes or short cuts to be taken. Those who knew the way would call for known thrusters to give leads over the larger walls. A serious obstacle required a sure-footed steed to clatter over the fallen stones of a big gap – at least for the more timid, lacking sufficient courage or a horse capable of jumping a collapsed mass of stones at that speed. There would be a cry of ‘Where’s Bat’ if something looked impossible, and this summoned Dr O’Driscoll to lumber up from the back of the field in a swallow-tailed coat and top hat. His grey mare cantered in a slow rocking motion and had a way of pushing a wall down with its front legs which always proved popular in the frenzy of the moment.
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         28The hunting clergy were quick to seek out Anjelica Huston if she’d been spotted at the meet and cry for a lead, as she was always mounted well. The priests’ enthusiasm to follow her studiously in line across the stone-walled fields increased noticeably when she turned 16 and began to appear in a pair of tight-fitting cream breeches. Apparently when being measured for them by a fashionable tailor in a place called Hospital she claimed he had found it necessary to frequently measure her bust. At the back of the field conversations would break out over which priest would be taking whose confession that night. Would it be Father Keyes handing out penance to Father Highland and would they then swap roles and 29Father Highland listen to what had been on Father Keyes’s mind before both turning on Father McCormack who always took first position behind Anjelica for the run?

         The many derelict demesnes littering the west of Ireland with their overgrown jungles of what had once been walled gardens provided endless coverts for the hounds to draw for foxes. During the time they were ‘working’ to see if there was any quarry to be found, there was usually chat about the history of the places and families that had lived there, bringing a lost world momentarily back to life. One day a visiting priest joined us pony riders to shelter under an enormous evergreen oak opposite the elevated bay window of a giant Georgian ‘almost ruin’ and spoke of how the crumbling mansion in front of us had been the family home of one Isabel Lambert – the mother of ‘Satan’ – Sir Edward Carson. Not only that, but as a Dublin law student the man who was later to tear Ireland apart in his demand for a Protestant seat of power had returned to court and would eventually marry a cousin from the same house, Castle Ellen, probably wooing his beloved under the very tree providing shelter for us. Looking across at the dilapidated front steps leading up to the pillared portico, it didn’t take much effort to imagine what a lovely place it had probably been in the not too distant past, but the fans of ivy now reaching up to the pediment and the missing roof slates warned that the future didn’t look promising.
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         Some time in the summer of 1961 Peter came back from the Bahamas on a visit and commented on my extremely poor reading skills. Even through thick wooden doors the words ‘boy’, ‘school’ and ‘Eton’ could be heard, and I knew I was the subject under discussion. Old Wyndham had told me it was a frightful place and now it sounded as if plans were afoot to send me there, wherever it was. Luckily my grandfather, Shane Leslie, was staying and, as an excuse to disappear, I told him about a ruined ‘famine village’ that lay out of sight and forgotten in a nearby wood. He was a grown-up I’d found it easy to get on with and we’d gone on many long walks before up at Castle Leslie in Co. Monaghan. Once, while we were exploring the bank of the Ulster canal lying half hidden under trees, reached via a line of stepping-stones straddling a river, the subject of religion and death had come up. Just as he was explaining about the River Styx and the need for coins to pay a boatman, a rotten footbridge was spotted in the shadows ahead. Mistakenly thinking we were beside the actual Styx itself, I’d asked why nobody had thought of building a proper bridge for making the crossing. Now, at Oranmore, he was obviously as bored as I was and showed immediate interest in escaping for a walk across fields and a bit of woodland exploration.

         Time had taken quite a toll on the little hamlet of hovels that had once been a social hub of some sort for what were clearly very poor people. Occasional single-storey gables fashioned from carefully chosen field stones still pointed up through ash saplings and out of hazel thickets, but ground ivy spread everywhere, with a layer of thick moss covering most surfaces. Many house walls still stood to shoulder-height and it was possible in the soft light to sit ‘inside’, so the imagination could run on what life must have been like. There would have been boys and girls my age once living and playing in those small rooms, now inhabited by robins and blackbirds. Since it was located on a slope beside a bog and surrounded 31by boulder-ridden forest, there was no land worth cultivating anywhere near, and it was hard to work out how anybody could survive for long in such a place, the only conclusion being that desperation alone had driven people to gather stones and put them together to create such dwellings.

         The place had a noticeable impact on my grandfather, and he grew silent, resting his hand on my shoulder as we headed home via my school so as to view the great cairn behind the playground. In class ‘The Master’ often spoke of it as the grave of the ‘Aughrim horseman’, an Irish warrior who had been mortally wounded at the 1691 battle and died at that spot. In respect for his sacrifice, passers-by began to place stones on the site and so, over the years, a massive cairn had come into being. Shane wandered off, found a small lump of limestone, and, carrying it with effort, added it to the pile. There was something about that day wandering about with my grandfather that was different from others: listening to the stories of Ireland’s ancient heroes he’d imprinted a multitude of colourful images in my mind.

         A few days later the tail-end of Hurricane Debbie devastated the west of Ireland, washing a female seal in through the west window of the castle’s main hall along with much gravel and seaweed, separating it from a pup that remained outside bleating pitifully from the shoreline. While Bill struggled to shovel away the shingle jamming the main door, Shane took it upon himself to try with a yard brush to drive the lunging seal back out of the window by which it had come in – an impossibility because of the drop from the sill to the floor and the fact that seals don’t jump. All he did was antagonise the creature to a point where it began to shriek and snap its huge, seriously fanged jaws at the brush-head. Eventually it made contact and that was the end of the brush – and of my grandfather’s courageous stand. The seal made a lunge, leaving Shane no alternative but to vault over an upturned sofa and scramble up the chimneystack in his kilt. The fermented fish odours belching from the animal’s stomach were truly noxious and it was a relief when Bill finally cried that the door might be open enough for the seal to escape. We all went quiet and let it hear the cries of the pup coming from outside. It’s amazing how ungainly seals are out of water but even so, they can still move quickly when the need arises, and this one did.32
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